

# ELLIOTT & QUINN'S ENGLISH LEGAL SYSTEM

**EMILY ALLBON & SANMEET KAUR DUA** 



Twentieth Edition 2019/2020

# ELLIOTT AND QUINN'S ENGLISH LEGAL SYSTEM



At Pearson, we have a simple mission: to help people make more of their lives through learning.

We combine innovative learning technology with trusted content and educational expertise to provide engaging and effective learning experiences that serve people wherever and whenever they are learning.

From classroom to boardroom, our curriculum materials, digital learning tools and testing programmes help to educate millions of people worldwide – more than any other private enterprise.

Every day our work helps learning flourish, and wherever learning flourishes, so do people.

To learn more, please visit us at www.pearson.com/uk

# ELLIOTT AND QUINN'S ENGLISH LEGAL SYSTEM

Emily Allbon and Sanmeet Kaur Dua

Twentieth Edition



### PEARSON EDUCATION LIMITED

KAO Two, KAO Park Harlow CM17 9SR United Kingdom Tel: +44 (0)1279 623623

Web: www.pearson.com/uk

Previously published 1996, 1998, 2000, 2002, 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010, 2010 (print); 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018 (print and electronic).

Twentieth edition published 2019 (print and electronic)

© Pearson Education Limited 1996, 1998, 2000, 2002, 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011 (print)

© Pearson Education Limited 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019 (print and electronic)

The rights of Emily Allbon, Sanmeet Kaur Dua, Catherine Elliott and Frances Quinn to be identified as authors of this work have been asserted by them in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

The print publication is protected by copyright. Prior to any prohibited reproduction, storage in a retrieval system, distribution or transmission in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, recording or otherwise, permission should be obtained from the publisher or, where applicable, a licence permitting restricted copying in the United Kingdom should be obtained from the Copyright Licensing Agency Ltd, Barnard's Inn, 86 Fetter Lane, London EC4A 1EN.

The ePublication is protected by copyright and must not be copied, reproduced, transferred, distributed, leased, licensed or publicly performed or used in any way except as specifically permitted in writing by the publishers, as allowed under the terms and conditions under which it was purchased, or as strictly permitted by applicable copyright law. Any unauthorised distribution or use of this text may be a direct infringement of the authors' and the publisher's rights and those responsible may be liable in law accordingly.

Contains public sector information licensed under the Open Government Licence (OGL) v3.0. http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/.

Contains Parliamentary information licensed under the Open Parliament Licence (OPL) v3.0. http://www.parliament.uk/site-information/copyright/open-parliament-licence/

Pearson Education is not responsible for the content of third-party internet sites.

ISBN: 978-1-292-25105-9 (print)

978-1-292-25107-3 (PDF) 978-1-292-25108-0 (ePub)

### **British Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data**

A catalogue record for the print edition is available from the British Library

### Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

A catalog record for the print edition is available from the Library of Congress

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1 23 22 21 20 19

Cover image: AlonzoDesign/DigitalVision Vectors/Getty Images

Print edition typeset in 9.5/12pt ITC Galliard Pro by Pearson CSC.

Printed in Slovakia by Neografia

NOTE THAT ANY PAGE CROSS REFERENCES REFER TO THE PRINT EDITION

In loving memory of Catherine Elliott, creator and author of numerous best-selling law titles, whose writing has inspired generations of law students across the world.

# **Brief contents**

	Preface	xvii
	Publisher's acknowledgements	XX
	Table of cases	XXiX
	Table of statutes	XXXV
	Table of statutory materials	xl 
	Cases, law reports and case references: a guide	×lii
	Introduction	2
Part 1	Sources of law	10
1	Case law	12
2	Statute law	46
3	Statutory interpretation	60
4	Delegated legislation	86
5	European law	100
6	Custom	128
7	Equity	134
8	Treaties	142
9	Law reform	146
Part 2	People working in the legal system	176
10	The judges	178
11	The legal professions	214
12	The jury	264
13	Magistrates	304
14	Administration of justice	326
15	Paying for legal services	334

Part 3	luman rights	372
16	Introduction to human rights	374
17	Remedies for infringement of human rights	404
Part 4	Criminal justice system	418
18	The police	420
19	The criminal trial process	474
20	Sentencing	524
21	Young offenders	570
22	Criminal appeals	596
Part 5	Civil justice system	622
23	The civil trial process	624
24	Tribunals	672
25	Alternative methods of dispute resolution	688
26	Civil appeals and judicial review	710
Part 6	Concepts of law	726
27	Law and rules	728
28	Law and morals	740
29	Law and justice	756
	Glossary	766
	Select bibliography	768
	Index	784

# **Companion website**

To access additional resources to support your study, including multiple choice questions and answers to the end of chapter questions and web updates, please visit **www.pearsoned.co.uk/elliottquinn** 

# **Contents**

Publisher's acknowledgements Table of cases Table of statutes Table of statutory materials Cases, law reports and case references: a guide  Introduction The legal system in context The unwritten constitution A written constitution? Reading list On the internet  Part 1 Sources of law  1 Case law Historical background Judicial precedent The hierarchy of the courts How do judges really decide cases? Do judges make law? When should judges make law? Advantages of case law Disadvantages of case law Answering questions Summary of Chapter 1: Case law Reading list On the internet  2 Statute law Introduction	xx xxix xxxvi
Table of statutes Table of statutory materials Cases, law reports and case references: a guide  Introduction The legal system in context The unwritten constitution A written constitution? Reading list On the internet  Part 1 Sources of law  1 Case law Historical background Judicial precedent The hierarchy of the courts How do judges really decide cases? Do judges make law? When should judges make law? Advantages of case law Disadvantages of case law Answering questions Summary of Chapter 1: Case law Reading list On the internet  2 Statute law	
Table of statutory materials Cases, law reports and case references: a guide  Introduction The legal system in context The unwritten constitution A written constitution? Reading list On the internet  Part 1 Sources of law  1 Case law Historical background Judicial precedent The hierarchy of the courts How do judges really decide cases? Do judges make law? When should judges make law? Advantages of case law Disadvantages of case law Answering questions Summary of Chapter 1: Case law Reading list On the internet	xxxvi
Introduction The legal system in context The unwritten constitution A written constitution? Reading list On the internet  Part 1 Sources of law  1 Case law Historical background Judicial precedent The hierarchy of the courts How do judges really decide cases? Do judges make law? When should judges make law? Advantages of case law Disadvantages of case law Answering questions Summary of Chapter 1: Case law Reading list On the internet	
Introduction The legal system in context The unwritten constitution A written constitution? Reading list On the internet  Part 1 Sources of law  1 Case law Historical background Judicial precedent The hierarchy of the courts How do judges really decide cases? Do judges make law? When should judges make law? Advantages of case law Disadvantages of case law Answering questions Summary of Chapter 1: Case law Reading list On the internet	xli
The legal system in context The unwritten constitution A written constitution? Reading list On the internet  Part 1 Sources of law  1 Case law Historical background Judicial precedent The hierarchy of the courts How do judges really decide cases? Do judges make law? When should judges make law? Advantages of case law Disadvantages of case law Answering questions Summary of Chapter 1: Case law Reading list On the internet	xliii
The unwritten constitution?  Reading list On the internet  Part 1 Sources of law  1 Case law Historical background Judicial precedent The hierarchy of the courts How do judges really decide cases? Do judges make law? When should judges make law? Advantages of case law Disadvantages of case law Answering questions Summary of Chapter 1: Case law Reading list On the internet	2
A written constitution? Reading list On the internet  Part 1 Sources of law  1 Case law Historical background Judicial precedent The hierarchy of the courts How do judges really decide cases? Do judges make law? When should judges make law? Advantages of case law Disadvantages of case law Answering questions Summary of Chapter 1: Case law Reading list On the internet	4
Reading list On the internet  Part 1 Sources of law  1 Case law Historical background Judicial precedent The hierarchy of the courts How do judges really decide cases? Do judges make law? When should judges make law? Advantages of case law Disadvantages of case law Answering questions Summary of Chapter 1: Case law Reading list On the internet	4
Part 1 Sources of law  1 Case law Historical background Judicial precedent The hierarchy of the courts How do judges really decide cases? Do judges make law? When should judges make law? Advantages of case law Disadvantages of case law Answering questions Summary of Chapter 1: Case law Reading list On the internet	8
Part 1 Sources of law  1 Case law Historical background Judicial precedent The hierarchy of the courts How do judges really decide cases? Do judges make law? When should judges make law? Advantages of case law Disadvantages of case law Answering questions Summary of Chapter 1: Case law Reading list On the internet	8
1 Case law  Historical background Judicial precedent The hierarchy of the courts How do judges really decide cases? Do judges make law? When should judges make law? Advantages of case law Disadvantages of case law Answering questions Summary of Chapter 1: Case law Reading list On the internet  2 Statute law	9
Historical background Judicial precedent The hierarchy of the courts How do judges really decide cases? Do judges make law? When should judges make law? Advantages of case law Disadvantages of case law Answering questions Summary of Chapter 1: Case law Reading list On the internet	10
Judicial precedent The hierarchy of the courts How do judges really decide cases? Do judges make law? When should judges make law? Advantages of case law Disadvantages of case law Answering questions Summary of Chapter 1: Case law Reading list On the internet	12
Judicial precedent The hierarchy of the courts How do judges really decide cases? Do judges make law? When should judges make law? Advantages of case law Disadvantages of case law Answering questions Summary of Chapter 1: Case law Reading list On the internet	14
The hierarchy of the courts  How do judges really decide cases?  Do judges make law?  When should judges make law?  Advantages of case law  Disadvantages of case law  Answering questions  Summary of Chapter 1: Case law  Reading list  On the internet	18
How do judges really decide cases?  Do judges make law?  When should judges make law?  Advantages of case law  Disadvantages of case law  Answering questions  Summary of Chapter 1: Case law  Reading list  On the internet	19
Do judges make law? When should judges make law? Advantages of case law Disadvantages of case law Answering questions Summary of Chapter 1: Case law Reading list On the internet	28
When should judges make law? Advantages of case law Disadvantages of case law Answering questions Summary of Chapter 1: Case law Reading list On the internet  2 Statute law	31
Advantages of case law Disadvantages of case law Answering questions Summary of Chapter 1: Case law Reading list On the internet  2 Statute law	34
Answering questions Summary of Chapter 1: Case law Reading list On the internet  2 Statute law	37
Summary of Chapter 1: Case law Reading list On the internet  Statute law	38
Reading list On the internet  Statute law	41
On the internet  2 Statute law	41
2 Statute law	43
	43
Introduction	46
ii iii oudolioi i	48
House of Commons	48
House of Lords	48
Making an Act of Parliament	49
Reforms to legislative procedures	56
Answering questions	57
Summary of Chapter 2: Statute law	57

# x CONTENTS

	Reading list	58
	On the internet	58
3	Statutory interpretation	60
	Introduction	62
	How are statutes interpreted?	63
	Rules of interpretation	63
	Interpreting European legislation	72
	Aids to interpretation	72
	How do judges really interpret statutes?	80
	Reform of statutory interpretation	82
	Answering questions	83
	Summary of Chapter 3: Statutory interpretation	84
	Reading list	85
	On the internet	85
4	Delegated legislation	86
	Introduction	88
	The power to make delegated legislation	88
	Why is delegated legislation necessary?	90
	Control of delegated legislation	90
	Criticism of delegated legislation	95
	Answering questions	96
	Summary of Chapter 4: Delegated legislation	98
	Reading list	99
	On the internet	99
5	European law	100
	Introduction	102
	The aims of the European Union	105
	Modernising the European Union	107
	The institutions of the European Union	107
	Making European legislation	114
	Types of European legislation	115
	How does EU law affect the UK?	121
	Answering questions	125
	Summary of Chapter 5: European law	126
	Reading list	127
	On the internet	127
6	Custom	128
	Introduction	130
	When can custom be a source of law?	130
	Answering questions	132
	Summary of Chapter 6: Custom	132
	Reading list	133

7	Equity	134
	Introduction	136
	How equity began	136
	Common law and equity	137
	The Judicature Acts	137
	Equity today  Answering questions	138 140
	Summary of Chapter 7: Equity	140
	Reading list	141
8	Treaties	142
	Introduction	144
	Implementation of treaties	144
	Answering questions	144
	On the internet	145
9	Law reform	146
	Introduction	148
	Judicial change	148
	Reform by Parliament	149
	Pressures for reform	151
	Agencies of law reform	164 165
	Royal Commissions Performance of the law reform bodies	168
	Problems with law reform agencies	172
	Answering questions	173
	Summary of Chapter 9: Law reform	174
	Reading list	174
	On the internet	175
Part 2	People working in the legal system	176
10	The judges	178
	The role of the judges	180
	Judicial hierarchy	180
	Appointments to the judiciary	182
	Wigs and gowns	188
	Training	188
	Pay	189
	Promotion Termination of appointment	190
	Termination of appointment	190
	Independence of the judiciary Criticisms of the judiciary	193 195
	Answering questions	209
	Summary of Chapter 10: The judges	209
	,	

CONTENTS

хi

# xii CONTENTS

	Reading list	21
	On the internet	212
11	The legal professions	214
	Introduction	216
	Solicitors	216
	Barristers	224
	Complaints	230
	Background of barristers and solicitors	232
	Performance of the legal professions	239
	The future of the professions	24
	Fusion of the professions	250
	Other legal personnel	255
	Do we need legal professionals?	257
	Answering questions	259
	Summary of Chapter 11: The legal professions	259
	Reading list	26
	On the internet	262
12	The jury	264
	History	266
	The function of the jury	267
	When are juries used?	269
	Qualifications for jury service	273
	Summoning the jury	276
	Jury vetting	277
	Challenges	278
	Discharging the jury	279
	The secrecy of the jury	280
	The verdict	282
	Strengths of the jury system	283
	Criticisms of the jury system	288
	Reform of the jury	294
	Answering questions	299
	Summary of Chapter 12: The jury	299
	Reading list	300
	On the internet	302
13	Magistrates	304
	The magistrates' courts	300
	Magistrates	307
	Suggested reforms	320
	Answering questions	322
	Summary of Chapter 13: Magistrates	320
	Reading list	324
	On the internet	324

	14 Administration of justice	326
	The Ministry of Justice and the Home Office	328
	The Lord Chancellor	329
	The Law Officers' Department	331
	Answering questions	333
	Summary of Chapter 14: Administration of justice	333
	Reading list	333
	On the internet	333
	15 Paying for legal services	334
	Introduction	336
	Unmet need for legal services	336
	The historical development of legal aid	339
	Legal aid today	340
	Problems with the legal aid system	345
	Not-for-profit agencies	353
	Conditional fee agreements	355
	Contingency fees	358
	Third party funding Reform	360
	Answering questions	361 367
	Summary of Chapter 15: Paying for legal services	367
	Reading list	368
	On the internet	369
Part 3	Human rights	372
		0.2
	16 Introduction to human rights	374
	Introduction	376
	The European Convention on Human Rights	377
	The administration	377 378
	The administration The Human Rights Act 1998	380
	Advantages of the Human Rights Act 1998	385
	Disadvantages of the Human Rights Act 1998	387
	A Bill of Rights for the UK?	389
	The European Court of Human Rights and the CJEU	393
	The European Charter of Fundamental Rights	394
	Today's debates	395
	Answering questions	400
	Summary of Chapter 16: Introduction to human rights	401
	Reading list	402
	On the internet	402

CONTENTS xiii

# **xiv** CONTENTS

	17	Remedies for infringement of human rights	404
		Introduction	406
		Judicial review	406
		Habeas corpus	406
		Civil action for negligence	406
		Compensation	410
		Criminal proceedings	411
		Criminal Injuries Compensation Scheme	411
		The Independent Office for Police Conduct	412
		The admissibility of evidence	413
		The right to exercise self-defence	413
		Parliamentary controls	414
		The Ombudsman	414
		Answering questions	414
		Summary of Chapter 17: Remedies for infringement of human rights	415
		Reading list	416
		On the internet	416
Part	4 (	Criminal justice system	418
	18	The police	420
		Introduction	422
		Miscarriages of justice	422
		The response to the miscarriages of justice	425
		Human Rights Act 1998	426
		The organisation of the police	426
		Police powers	429
		Criticism and reform	460
		Answering questions	467
		Summary of Chapter 18: The police	468
		Reading list	469
		On the internet	472
	19	The criminal trial process	474
		The adversarial process	476
		Criminal Procedure Rules	477
		The Crown Prosecution Service	478
		Appearance in court	486
		Classification of offences	487
		Allocation procedure	489
		Sending for trial	490
		Plea and trial preparation hearing	490
		Disclosure	491
		Plea bargaining	494

		CONTENTS	XV
	The trial		495
	Models of criminal justice systems		501
	Criticism and reform		502
	Answering questions		517
	Summary of Chapter 19: The criminal trial process		518
	Reading list		520
	On the internet		521
20	Sentencing		524
	Purposes of sentencing		526
	Sentencing practice		529
	Guidance for the court when sentencing		530
	Types of sentence		533
	Reform		560
	Answering questions		561
	Summary of Chapter 20: Sentencing		561
	Reading list		564
	On the internet		566
21	Young offenders		570
	Introduction		572
	Criminal liability		573
	Young people and the police		573
	Remand and bail		574
	Youth cautions		574
	Trial Septending		575 576
	Sentencing Key reports		588
	Answering questions		590
	Summary of Chapter 21: Young offenders		591
	Reading list		593
	On the internet		593
22	Criminal appeals		596
	Appeals		598
	The power of the prosecution to appeal		606
	The Supreme Court		608
	Privy Council		609
	Criticism and reform of the appeal system		609
	Answering questions		618
	Summary of Chapter 22: Criminal appeals		619
	Reading list		620
	On the internet		621

art 5 (	Civil justice system	622
23	The civil trial process	624
	Introduction	626
	History	626
	The civil courts	627
	The civil justice system before April 1999	628
	The civil justice system after April 1999	631
	Interim assessment of LASPO Criticism of the civil justice system	649 650
	Reform	662
	Answering questions	666
	Summary of Chapter 23: The civil trial process	666
	Reading list	668
	On the internet	670
24	Tribunals	672
	Introduction	674
	History	674
	Reforming the tribunals	675
	Tribunals today	677
	Advantages of tribunals	682
	Disadvantages of tribunals	683
	Answering questions	683
	Summary of Chapter 24: Tribunals	684
	Reading list	686
	On the internet	686
25	Alternative methods of dispute resolution	688
	Introduction	690
	Problems with court hearings	691
	Alternative dispute resolution mechanisms	692
	Examples of ADR	694
	Advantages of ADR	701
	Problems with ADR	702
	The future for ADR	703
	Answering questions Summary of Chapter 25: Alternative methods of dispute resolution	705 705
	Reading list	703
	On the internet	708
26	Civil appeals and judicial review	710
	Appeals in civil law cases	712
	Judicial review	714
	Answering questions	723
	Summary of Chapter 26: Civil appeals and judicial review	724
	Reading list	724
	On the internet	725

		CONTENTS	xvii
Part 6	6 Concepts of law		726
	27 Law and rules		728
	Introduction		730
	Austin: the command theory		730
	Hart: primary and secondary rules		730
	Dworkin: legal principles		732
	The natural law theory		732
	The function of law		732
	Why are laws obeyed?		736
	Answering questions		737 737
	Summary of Chapter 27: Law and rules Reading list		737
	28 Law and morals		740
	Introduction		742
	Law and morality		743
	Changes in law and morality		744
	Differences between law and morality		744
	Should law and morality be separate?		745
	Answering questions		753
	Summary of Chapter 28: Law and morals		753
	Reading list On the internet		755 755
	29 Law and justice		756
	Introduction		758
	Aristotle		758
	Natural law theories		758
	Utilitarianism		758
	The economic analysis of law		759
	Rawls: A Theory of Justice		759
	Nozick and the minimal state		760
	Karl Marx		761
	Kelsen and positivism		761
	Justice in practice		761
	Answering questions Summary of Chapter 29: Law and justice		762 762
	Reading list		764
	Cloppany		760
	Glossary Select bibliography		766 768

Index

784

# **Preface**

As with the previous edition, we hope that this edition does justice to the work done by both Catherine and Francis over many years. We have continued to employ our signature style of writing by engaging students via topical and current examples in order to help them understand how the law, processes and procedures that are discussed in this book relate to their everyday lives.

The key updates to this edition can be found in Parts 1, 2 and 4, although other necessary updates appear throughout. Some updates were more challenging than others. For example, with Brexit on the horizon and negotiations ongoing, the updates only reflect the state of affairs up to the point of writing. Anything could happen on this front by the time of publication! Some significant updates have been made to Chapter 9 on law reform. In particular, there is discussion of the Upskirting Bill and how that was brought about through a Private Members' Bill and the #MeToo movement. This movement has courted much publicity in recent times but actually the action does not require there to be reform of the law but rather reliance on existing law to deal with such issues. A further important update to Chapter 9 relates to the series of cases that have been heard on the so called 'gig' economy involving the likes of Uber and Deliveroo and the status of those who work for them. Are they employees or workers with better rights than are afforded to those who are self-employed? Chapter 10 has seen some interesting updates around the changing judicial role; in particular the increased incidences of judges speaking out on legal issues, and adapting their judgments to ensure they are understood. There have been updates across various chapters in relation to access to justice and the role technology is to play moving forward. This edition includes updates on the reforms brought in to improve the situation concerning young offenders, as well as the proposals for those in the slightly older age bracket (18–25). Diversity remains a strong thread throughout the book and there have been updates to a number of chapters in relation to this. Finally, we have been thrilled to have our academic colleague (and criminal law practitioner) Ffyon Reilly involved in this edition, and her thorough reworking of chapters 19, 20 and 22 has been invaluable.

The ethos of the book remains the same in that this text is designed to provide a clear explanation of the English legal system and how it works in practice today. As ever, the legal system and its operation are currently the subject of heated public debate, and we hope that the material here will allow you to enter into some of that debate and develop your own views as to how the system should develop.

One of our priorities in writing this text has been to explain the material clearly, so that it is easy to understand, without lowering the quality of the content. Too often, law is avoided as a difficult subject, when the real difficulty is the vocabulary and style of legal textbooks. For that reason, we have aimed to use 'plain English' as far as possible and explain the more complex legal terminology where it arises. There is also a glossary of difficult words at the back of the text. In addition, chapters are structured so that material is in a systematic order for the purposes of both learning and revision, and clear subheadings make specific points easy to locate.

Although we hope that many readers will use this text to satisfy a general interest in law and the legal system, we recognise that the majority will be those who have to sit an examination on the subject. Therefore, each chapter features typical examination questions (with detailed guidance on answering them, using the material in the text, available on the companion website at <a href="https://www.pearsoned.co.uk/elliottquinn">www.pearsoned.co.uk/elliottquinn</a>). This is obviously useful at revision time, but we recommend that when first reading the text, you take the opportunity offered by the question sections to think through the material that you have just read and look at it from different angles. This will help you both to understand and to remember it. You will also find a section at the end of the text which gives useful general advice on answering examination questions on the English legal system.

We would like to thank our families for their encouragement, support and, most of all, patience when writing this edition.

We have endeavoured to state the law as at 31 October 2018.

Emily Allbon and Sanmeet Kaur Dua City, University of London October 2018

# Publisher's acknowledgements

# **Text Credits:**

15 Crown Copyright: Constitutional reform: A Supreme Court for the United Kingdom 20 BBC: Lord Neuberger 21 Parliamentary Copyright: R v Reid (1992) 22 Crown Copyright: Supreme Court 23 Crown Copyright: James and Karimi, The Court of Appeal 23 Crown Copyright: Attorney General for Jersey v Holley (2005) 23 Crown Copyright: Court of Appeal, Lord Woolf, R v Simpson (2003) 24 Crown Copyright: R v Simpson (Ian McDonald) (2003) (Post Judgment Discussion) 26 Crown Copyright: Manchester City Council v Pinnock (No. 2) (2011) 26 Parliamentary Copyright: Regina v Boyd (2002) 27 Crown Copyright: AlKhawaja and Tahery v UK (2009) 28 Oxford University Press: William Blackstone, Commentaries on the Laws of England Vol 1, (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1765, facsimile version Legal Classics Library, 1983) 30 Hachette Book Group: In Kairys, D. (1998). The Politics of law: A Progressive Critique. 30 HarperCollins: Griffith, J. A. G. (1997) The Politics of the Judiciary, London: Fontana. 31 Taylor & Francis: Waldron, J. (2002). The Law. 31 Parliamentary Copyright: Arthur J.S. Hall & Cov Simons (2000) 32 Parliamentary Copyright: Airedale NHS Trust v Bland (1993) 33 Parliamentary Copyright: C (A Minor) v DPP (1995) 33 Parliamentary Copyright: Violence: Reforming the Offences Against the Person Act 1861 (1998) 33 Francis Bennion: New Law Journal in 1999, Francis Bennion, a former parliamentary counsel 33 Parliamentary Copyright: Kleinwort Benson Ltd v Lincoln City Council (1998) 34 Crown Copyright: Simmons v Castle [2012] EWCA Civ 36 Parliamentary Copyright: President of India v La Pintada Compañia Navigación SA (1984) 37 Crown Copyright: R (on the application of Nicklinson) v Ministry of Justice (2014) 38 Taylor & Francis: The Spirit of the Common Law (1963) © Transaction Publishers, 1963 40 Crown Copyright: R v Bentley (1953) 41 Mr Justice Peak: Mr Justice Peak, 1833 48 Lloyd George: The former Prime Minister, Lloyd George 56 Parliamentary Copyright: The House of Lords Constitutional Committee Report, Preparing Legislation for Parliament (2017) 50 Crown Copyright: The Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2001 62 Butterworths Publishers: Bennion, F.A.R. (2005) Statutory Interpretation. London: Butterworths. 63 Crown Copyright: R v City of London Court Judge (1892) 64 Crown Copyright: Whiteley v Chappell (1868) 64 Cambridge University Press: Zander, M. (2004). The Law Making Process. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. 65 Crown Copyright: The Serious Organised Crime and Police Act 2005 65 Presscom: Haw's demonstration 65 Parliamentary Copyright: Grey v Pearson (1857) 66 Crown Copyright: R v Allen (1872) LR 1 CCR 367 66 Crown Copyright: Maddox v Storer: QBD 1962 66 Crown Copyright: Adler v George [1964] 2 QB 7 68 Parliamentary Copyright: Magor and St Mellons Rural District Council v Newport Corporation: HL 1951 68 Parliamentary Copyright: Pepper v Hart (1993) 69 Parliamentary Copyright: R (on the application of Quintavalle) v Secretary of State for Health (2003) 70 Crown Copyright: Section 3 of the Human Rights Act 1998 70 Parliamentary Copyright: R v A (2001) 71 Crown Copyright: Youth Justice and Criminal Evidence Act 1999 71 Parliamentary Copyright: Ghaidan v Godin Mendoza (2004) 76 Parliamentary Copyright: Bill of Rights 1689 77, 78 Parliamentary Copyright: Davis v Johnson [1978] 2 WLR 553 78 Oxford University Press: Pepper

(Inspector of Taxes) Respondent and Hart Appellant 78 Parliamentary Copyright: Wilson v Secretary of State for Trade and Industry (2003) 79 Crown Copyright: Highways Act 1835 79 Parliamentary Copyright: Turkington v Times Newspapers (2000) 80 Parliamentary Copyright: R v Ireland and Burstow (1997) 81 Crown Copyright: Transport (London) Act 1969 82 Parliamentary Copyright: Bromley London Borough Council v Greater London Council (1982) 82 HarperCollins: Griffith, J. A. G. (1997) The Politics of the Judiciary, London: Fontana. 90 Crown Copyright: Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006 90 Crown Copyright: R v Brent London Borough Council, ex parte Gunning (1985) 93 Crown Copyright: Customs and Excise Commissioners v Cure & Deeley Ltd (1962) 97 Crown Copyright: The Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (Tape recording of Interviews) (No. 1) Order 1991 103, 105 Crown Copyright: European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 111 European Union: Article 267 of the treaty on the functioning of the European Union 111 European Union: Cilfit v Ministry of Health (1983) 115 European Union: Three systems of voting in the Council European legislation 116 European Union: Article 288 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union 116 European Union: Article 157 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union 119 European Union: Foster v British Gas plc (1990) 122 Crown Copyright: 2(4) of the European Communities Act 122 Crown Copyright: European Communities Act 1972 123 Parliamentary Copyright: Article 9 of the Bill of Rights 123 Parliamentary Copyright: Pepper (Inspector of Taxes) v Hart 124 Crown Copyright: Bulmer v Bollinger 125 The Independent: The Independent, 16 July 1996 125 New Law Journal: Burns, S. (2008) An incoming tide. New Law Journal, 158: 44. 125 Crown Copyright: Status of EU law dependent on continuing statutory basis 104 Crown Copyright: The Stationery Office. ©Crown Copyright 2017 130 Court of Munster: Tanistry Case (1608) 148 Parliamentary Copyright: R v R (1991) 150 Crown Copyright: Sexual Offences (Scotland) Act 2009 151 Crown Copyright: Sexual Offences Act 2003 155 Crown Copyright: Equality Act 2010 159 Crown Copyright: Employment Tribunal's judgment 160 Crown Copyright: The Supreme Court Practice direction 3 168, 169 Oxford University Press: Zander, M. (1988) A Matter of Justice. Oxford: Oxford University Press. 172 Elseiver: Zander, M. (2004) The Law Making Process. London: Butterworths. 183 Helena Kennedy: Helena Kennedy QC (1992) 183 The Bar Council: Holland, L. and Spencer, L. (1992) Without Prejudice? Sex Equality at the Bar and in the Judiciary. London: Bar Council. 183 Oxford University Press: Devlin, P. (1979). The Judge. Oxford: Oxford University Press. 184 Crown Copyright: Constitutional Reform: a new way of appointing judges (2003) 187 Crown Copyright: The Governance of Britain: Judicial Appointments (2007) 189 Crown copyright: The Strategy of the Judicial College 2018–2020 189 Crown Copyright: Ministry of Justice Judicial salaries from 1 April 2017 191 Crown copyright: The Constitutional Reform Act 2005 193 Crown copyright: Constitutional Reform Act 2005 194 Crown copyright: R (Miller and Dos Santos) v Secretary of State for Exiting the European Union (2017) 194 Guy Mansfield QC: A letter from 17 QCs at One Crown Office Row had further reproof for Truss's 'inadequate defence': 194 Crown copyright: Crown copyright 195 Oxford University Press: Pannick, D. (1988). Judges. Oxford: Oxford University Press. 196 Crown copyright: The attractiveness of senior judicial appointment to highly qualified practitioners (2008) 196 Edward Sparrow: Chairman of the City of London Law Society, Edward Sparrow, has spoken about cherry picking and fast tracking senior City solicitors to the High Court bench 196 Crown copyright: Constitutional Reform Act 2005 197 Crown copyright: Minister for Constitutional Affairs Government to Attract More Women, Ethnics & Disabled Judges 198 Lady Hale: Lady Hale, speech in 2015 at Birmingham University 199 Sir Geoffrey Vos: Sir Geoffrey Vos,

head of the High Court's Chancery Division 199 Lord Burnett: Lord Chief Justice, Lord Burnett 201 Lord Woolf: Lord Woolf, wrote a memo to the House of Commons Public Administration Select Committee expressing concern that Lord Hutton had been used as a political tool by the Government 201 Emma Dent Coad: MP Emma Dent Coad 201 David Lammy: David Lammy, Labour MP for Tottenham 201 Parliamentary Copyright: Liversidge v Anderson (1942) 202 TREE & Trees Centre: McIlkenny v Chief Constable of the West Midlands (1980) 202 Crown copyright: Attorney General to the Court of Appeal. In response, a spokesperson from the Judicial Communications Office stated: 203 Crown copyright: Iain Duncan Smith, MP for Chingford and Woodford Green and former Leader of the Conservative Party (2001-03) alarmingly had this to say in January 2017 203, 204 Kirsty Brimelow QC: Kirsty Brimelow QC 205 LexisNexis: Judicial criticism raises hackles 14 November 2008 205 The Judicial Communications Office: The Judicial Communications Office 205 The Independent: J.K. Rowling responds perfectly to Mail Online headline referencing judges's sexuality after Brexit High Court ruling 205 LexisNexis: Jon Robins, 'Too little, too late', New Law Journal 10 November 2016 https://www. newlawjournal.co.uk/content/too-little-too-late-1 206 HarperCollins: Griffith, J. A. G. (1997) The Politics of the Judiciary, London: Fontana. 208 Lord McKay: Lord McKay 210 Crown copyright: Section 3 of the Constitutional Reform Act 2005 181 Crown copyright: Ministry of Justice, Civil Justice Statistics (quarterly) January-March 2018. Graph created from data contained in the Court Statistics, Table 5.2 'Royal Courts of Justice tables' (https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/civil-justice-statistics-quarterly-januaryto-march-2018) 223 Crown copyright: Common Sense, Common Safety (2010) 225 Crown copyright: Fawaz Al Attiya v Hamad Bin Jassim Bin Jabber Al Thani (2016) 228 The Law Society: Commenting on the new appointment procedures, the Law Society president 228 Thomson Reuters: Blackwell, M. (2012) Old boys' networks, family connections and the English legal profession. Public Law, 3: 426. 233 The Law Society: Insight Oxford Ltd's 2010 report Obstacles and Barriers to the career development of woman solicitors 234 International In-House Counsel Journal Ltd.: Cruickshank, E. (2007) Sisters in the law, Solicitors Journal, 1510. 238 Legal Education and Training Review: Legal education and training 240 Infobase Publishing: Bloom, H. (1987). Charles Dickens's Bleak House. New York: Chelsea House Publishers. 241 Legal Ombudsman: Costs and customer service in a changing legal services market Legal Ombudsman 242 International In-House Counsel Journal Ltd.: Zander, M. (2001b) A question of trust. Solicitors Journal, 1100 242 Sir David Clementi: Report of the Review of the Regulatory Framework for Legal Services in England and Wales. 242 Sir David Clementi: Sir David Clementi 245 The Law Society: Chief executive of the Law Society 249 Crown copyright: The Future of Legal Services: Putting the Consumer First (2005) 217 The Law Society: Available from Chart 1 from Trends in the solicitors' profession, Annual Statistics Report 2016 June 2017 232 Legal Ombudsman: Graph created from data held in the table labelled 'What the complaints were about' which is hosted on the following page: http://www.legalombudsman.org.uk/ raising-standards/data-and-decisions/\#complaints-data. 235 The Law Society: Page 9 of the law society report 'Diversity Profile of the Profession 2014, A Short Synopsis' published in June 2015. The report can be accessed at: http://www.lawsociety.org.uk/ support-services/research-trends/diversity-in-the-profession/ 266, 267 Parliamentary Copyright: R v Wang (2005) 267 HarperCollins: de Tocqueville, A. (2000) Democracy in America (Lawrence, G. (trans.); Mayer, J.P. (ed.)). New York: Perennial Classics (first published 1835). 267 Stevens, Shanks & Sons Ltd.: Devlin, P. (1956) Trial by Jury. London: Stevens. 267 Criminal Law Review: Darbyshire, P. (1991) The lamp that shows that freedom

lives – is it worth the candle? Criminal Law Review, 740. 270 Thomas of Cwmgiedd: Lord Thomas of Cwmgiedd in September 2017 271 Crown copyright: Criminal Justice Act 2003 271 Crown copyright: R v JSM (2010) 271 Crown copyright: R v Twomey 2009 272 Crown copyright: Senior Courts Act 1981 273 Crown copyright: Criminal Justice Act 2003 274, 275 Parliamentary Copyright: R v Abdroikof (2007) 279 European Court of Human Rights: Sander v United Kingdom (2001) 282 US Supreme Court: Peña Rodriguez v Colorado (2017) 282 US Supreme Court: Peña Rodriguez v Colorado (2017) 285 Central Criminal Court: R v Ponting (1985) 285 Oxford University Press: Denning, A. (2004). What Next in the Law. London: Butterworth. 286 Parliamentary Copyright: R v Rayment and others (2005) 287 Crown copyright: Wooler, S. (2006) Review of the Investigation and Criminal Proceedings Relating to the Jubilee Line Cases. London: HM CPS Inspectorate. 287 Criminal Law Review: Lloyd Bostock, S. (2007) The Jubilee Line jurors: does their experience strengthen the argument for judge only trial in long and complex fraud cases? Criminal Law Review, 255. 292 Crown copyright: R v Hussain and Others 295 Douglas Mill: former chief executive of the Law Society in Scotland, Douglas Mill, told the BBC 296 Crown copyright: Review of Efficiency in Criminal Proceedings (2015) 297 International InHouse Counsel Journal Ltd.: Zander, M. (2001b) A question of trust. Solicitors Journal, 1100. 299 University of London: University of London, International Programmes LLB 299 Crown copyright: Lord Justice Auld (2001) Review of the Criminal Courts of England and Wales, chapter 5, para. 1 299 Crown copyright: Lord Denning MR in R v Sheffield Crown Court, ex parte Brownlow (1980)) 290 Crown copyright: The Lammy Review: An independent review into the treatment of, and outcomes for, Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic individuals in the Criminal Justice System (8 September 2017) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/lammy-review-finalreport 306 LexisNexis: Zander, M. (2004) The Law Making Process. London: Butterworths. 307 Shailesh Vara: Justice Minister Shailesh Vara 309 Steve Molyneux: Tweet by Steve Molyneux 309 Roger Warrington JP: Roger Warrington JP 311 Times Newspapers Limited: Crisis of plummeting magistrate numbers, The Times, July 12 2018 310, 311 Crown copyright: Judicial Diversity Statistics 2017 313 Parliamentary Copyright: https:// publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/2014-2015/0004/en/15004en.htm 314 Crown copyright: Criminal Justice Statistics Quarterly 315, 316 Crown copyright: Morgan and Russell (2000) The Judiciary in the Magistrates' Courts, Home Office RDS Occasional Paper No. 66 318 Crown copyright: The Strengths and Skills of the Judiciary in the Magistrates' Courts (2011) 318 Crown copyright: R v Bingham Justices, ex parte Jowitt (1974) 319 Cambridge University Press: Jackson, R.M. (1989) The Machinery of Justice in England. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. 322 The Howard League: Frances Crook, chief executive of the Howard League 331 Crown copyright: Constitutional Reform Act 2005 336 Amnesty International: Amnesty International, Cuts that hurt: The impact of legal aid cuts in England on access to justice (2016) can be downloaded at: https://www. amnesty.org/en/documents/eur45/4936/2016/en/ 337, 338 Crown copyright: Pereira, I., Perry C., Greevy, H. and Shrimpton, H. (2015), The varying paths to justice. Mapping problem resolution routes for users and nonusers of the civil, administrative and family justice systems. London: Ministry of Justice Analytical Series. 341 The Law Society: Richard Miller, head of legal aid at the Law Society 345 Times Newspapers Limited: Sir Andrew McFarlane, President of the Family Division of the High Court 346 Mr Justice Bodey: Mr Justice Bodey 346 Crown copyright: Re D (a child) 2014 347 Citizens Advice Bureau: Citizens Advice Bureau (2004a) Geography of Advice. London: Citizens Advice Bureau. 347 Parliamentary Copyright: Enforcing Human Rights 2018 347 Crown copyright: R (on

the application of Unison) v Lord Chancellor (2017) 349 Lord Carlile: Lord Carlile 349 Desmond Hudson: Desmond Hudson 349 Crown copyright: Access to Justice Act 1999: Breaking the Code: The Impact of Legal Aid Reforms on General Civil Litigation (Goriely and Gysta, 2001) 351 Parliamentary Copyright: Criminal legal aid: reforms risk undermining rule of law 361 The Royal Courts of Justice: Excalibur Ventures v Psari Holdings (2016) 361 The Law Society: Melanie Newman, 'Strength in numbers' New Law Journal (23 July 2018) 362 Lord Carter's Review of Legal Aid Procurement: Legal Aid: A Market Based Approach to Reform (2006) 345 Crown copyright: Ministry of Justice, Family Court Statistics Quarterly, England and Wales, April to June 2017 (published 28 June 2018) 383 Crown copyright: The Lord Chancellor 383 Elseiver: Raine, J. and Walker, C. (2002) The Impact on the Courts and the Administration of Justice of the Human Rights Act 1998. London: Lord Chancellor's Department, Research Secretariat. 384 Lord Bingham: Lord Bingham 384 Crown copyright: Secretary of State for Social Security v Tunnicliffe (1991) 392 Lord Lester: Lord Lester 393 Lord Chancellor, Kenneth Clarke: Lord Chancellor, Kenneth Clarke 394 European Union Agency for Fundamental Right: EU Charter of Fundamental Rights Article 52 Scope and interpretation 395 European Union: McB v E (2011) 397 Crown copyright: Secretary of State for the Home Department v MB (2007) 397 Lord Carlile: Lord Carlile 408 European Court of Human Rights: Osman v UK 409 Crown copyright: Lee v Ashers Baking Company Ltd & Ors [2018] UKSC 49 410 Crown copyright: Criminal Justice Act 1988 411 Crown copyright: Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 447 Crown copyright: Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984, Section 78 425 Lord Lane: Lord Lane 426 John Wiley & Sons, Inc.: Steven Greer 'Miscarriages of Criminal Justice Reconsidered' 1994 John Wiley & Sons, Inc. 426 Crown copyright: Police and Magistrates' Courts Act 1994 427 Police Federation: The Police Federation of England 428 Parliamentary Copyright: The Home Affairs Committee (2002) 430 Crown copyright: Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (PACE) - Code A 430 Crown copyright: Rice v Connolly (1966) 432 Crown copyright: Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (PACE) - Code A 433 Ipsos MORI: Ipsos MORI Report for Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services, Public Perceptions of Policing in England and Wales 2017 Page 18. 438 Parliamentary Copyright: Christie v Leachinsky (1947) 438 Crown copyright: Criminal Justice Act 1988 442 Crown copyright: PACE Code of Practice C 445 Crown copyright: Baldwin, J. (1992a) The Role of Legal Representatives at the Police Station. Royal Commission on Criminal Justice Research Study No. 2. London: HMSO. 455 Crown copyright: Thomas v Sawkins (1935) 455 Crown copyright: McLeod v UK (1998) 460 POLICE NOW: Mission statement of POLICE NOW 461 Crown copyright: The Stephen Lawrence Independent Review 461 Parliamentary Copyright: Memorandum submitted by Ionann Management Consultants Limited 433 Crown copyright: Ipsos MORI Report for Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services, Public Perceptions of Policing in England and Wales 2017 Page 16. 464 Crown copyright: Police Integrity: Securing and Maintaining Public Confidence (1999) 465 John Fitzpatrick: John Fitzpatrick, Legal Action, May 1994 466 Crown copyright: The Report of the Independent Review of Deaths and Serious Incidents in Police Custody 453 Crown copyright: Graph created from the gov.uk National DNA Database Statistics site, made available by clicking on National DNA Database Statistics, Q2, 2018-2019 458 Crown copyright: Graph created from Table Q2.2 'Offenders cautioned, by offence group, 12 months ending March 2008 to 12 months ending March 2018' which is available by clicking on 'Overview tables' on the following Ministry of Justice website: https://www.gov.uk/ government/statistics/criminal-justice-system-statistics-quarterly-march-2018 467

**INQUEST:** From Inquest, statistics and monitoring, at: https://www.inquest.org.uk/ deaths-in-police-custody 477 Crown copyright: Criminal Procedure Rules: Rule 1 2005 477 Crown copyright: Criminal Procedure Rules: Rule 3 478 Parliamentary Copyright: R v Clarke and McDaid (2008) 480 Williams Lea Tag: Glidewell, Sir I. (1998) Review of the Crown Prosecution Service. Cm 3960. London: Stationery Office. 480 Karl Turner: Attorney General Karl Turner 480 Michael Zander: Professor Michael Zander writing in a letter to The Times (29 December 1998) 482 Crown Copyright: R (on the application of Corner House Research and others) v Director of the Serious Fraud Office (2008) EWHC 714 483 Crown Copyright: The President of the Queen's Bench Division, Sir Brian Leveson 487 Crown Copyright: Criminal Practice Direction 14E.2 491 Crown copyright: Act 1996 (the CPIA) and the CPIA Code of Practice. 493 Guardian News and Media Limited: Minister Nick Hurd 493 Parliamentary Copyright: Angela Rafferty QC 493 Crown Copvright: Sir Brian Leveson (currently the President of the Queen's Bench Division and Head of Criminal Justice) speech at UCL in April 2018 493 Ian Dennis: Professor Ian Dennis 493 The Bar Council: chairperson of the Bar Council, Andrew Walker QC 497 Crown copyright: R v Hanson (2005) 498 Crown copyright: R v Clark (2003)). 499 Crown copyright: the Deputy Chief Justice, Lord Justice Judge, R v Cannings [2004] EWCA 501 Crown copyright: James Sturman QC in Dallagher case 501 LexisNexis: Enright, S. (1993) 'Cost effective criminal justice', 143 New Law Journal 1023. 502 Houghton Mifflin Harcourt Learning Technology: Mansfield, M. (1993) Presumed Guilty: The British Legal System Exposed, London: Heinemann. 502 Sylvia Denman: A report prepared by the Crown Prosecution Inspectorate in 2003 503 Crown copyright: David Lammy, in his 2017 The Lammy Review 507 William Clegg: Jury in Michael Stone's trial 508 Crown copyright: Audit Commission (2003) Victims and Witnesses, London: Audit Commission. 509 Lexis Nexis: Zander, M. (2007d) Change of PACE. New Law Journal, 157: 504. 512 Crown copyright: Department for Constitutional Affairs (2004) Broadcasting Courts, CP 28/04, London: DCA. 513 Falconer: The Lord Chancellor Falconer 515 Andrew Walker: Andrew Walker QC Chair of the Bar, on the 24th November 2018 516 Julia Macur: Lady Justice Macur 516 Crown copyright: The Lord Chief Justice in his 2017 annual report 517 Andrew Walker: Speech to Annual Bar and Young Bar Conference, 24 November 2018, Andrew Walker QC, Chair of the Bar 488 Crown copyright: Page 7, Criminal Court Statistics Quarterly, England and Wales, October to December 2014, published by Ministry of Justice on 26 March 2015 506 Crown copyright: Graph created from data in Table C2 'Effectiveness of Crown Court trials' in 'Criminal Court Statistics: April to June 2018. 512 Crown copyright: Page 3, Ministry of Justice, Analytical Summary 2015. 526 Crown copyright: Section 142 of the Criminal Justice Act 2003 527 Crown copyright: Home Office (1990) Crime, Justice and Protecting the Public, Cm 965, London: HMSO. 528 Crown copyright: Council Guideline on the Imposition of Community Order 528 Crown copyright: Criminal Justice Act 2003 529 Parliamentary Copyright: Ministry of Justice 529 The Pennsylvania State University: John Braithwaite's 'the good society' 529 Taylor & Francis: Restorative justice for victims: inherent limits?, Gerry Johnstone, 2017 530 Centre for Crime and Justice Studies: 'Gun Crime' A Review Of Evidence And Policy (2008), 532 Crown copyright: Criminal Justice Act 2003 533 Crown copyright: Section 143 of Criminal Justice Act 2003 535 Crown copyright: The Parole Board 536 Crown copyright: David Gauke 545 Crown copyright: Criminal Justice Act 2003 537 Crown copyright: R v Blackshaw (2011) EWCA 538 Kenneth Donald John Macdonald: Kenneth Donald John Macdonald 539 Penguin random house: Vivien Stern, Bricks of Shame: Britain's Prisons, Penguin, 1987 542 Crown copyright: Graph based on data contained in